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Introduction


This memoir starts when I was five years old and I watched as my parents’ home burnt down in what was widely, but wrongly, believed to be sabotage. It ends two years after my retirement as chief executive of the South African Institute of Race Relations (the Institute), the unashamedly liberal institution which was heading for bankruptcy when I was appointed. It is based mainly on what I wrote and said about South Africa during that time. I made more than 700 speeches, wrote four books on the country, and edited dozens. I also wrote hundreds of thousands of words in newspapers and journals both in South Africa and abroad.


So the memoir is the story of the intensification and fall of apartheid as I told it at the time – along with the story of the first 22 years of rule by the African National Congress (ANC), not forgetting its influential allies in the South African Communist Party (SACP). It’s a personal story as well as the story of the Institute during the 30 years I was its head. And in many ways it’s a contrarian story in that I was often at odds with prevailing wisdoms, whether about the demise of apartheid or the nature and aspirations of South Africa’s new rulers.


The two decades prior to FW de Klerk’s release of Nelson Mandela in 1990 were as fascinating a period as any in our history. These 20 years saw some of the most brutal features of apartheid, but also the beginnings of its disintegration. Although the dominating white politicians of that period, John Vorster and PW Botha, wielded enormous power, they were both impelled to make pragmatic compromises that in the end helped to undermine the very system they had been elected to implement. The political Right feared this, but correctly predicted that it would happen. It was the events of the 1970s and 1980s that made those of 1990 both necessary and possible.


Despite the immense harm that apartheid inflicted, South Africa embarked upon the post-apartheid era with great advantages, both political and economic. One of its many assets was the strength of vigilant institutions in civil society, pre-eminent among them the Institute, which had been founded in 1929. With the change of government and constitution in 1994, many people thought our work was done. Not so fast, I said: when parties committed to revolutionary methods and ideas come to power, liberal democracy is not the only possible outcome. In any event, the price of liberty, always, everywhere, is eternal vigilance. So the Institute has played as critical a role in relation to the present government as it did to the previous one. This has been more controversial, and politically more tricky, than our attacks on apartheid, and I was largely responsible for it.


I had enormously enjoyed student politics at the University of the Witwatersrand and I could easily have gone into parliamentary politics. But I was more interested in policy and ideas. I was also especially interested in the ideas driving policy. Unless one pays attention to these, one cannot understand some of the absurdities political parties get up to. The ANC, like earlier manifestations of the National Party (NP), is not a pragmatic party but an ideological one. It was fascinating to see – and record – how the NP eventually abandoned ideology for pragmatism. There is no evidence yet that the ANC will do so. Nor is there yet sufficient pressure on it to change course. Its racial policies, for example, enjoy ideological hegemony.


The first half of the book is broadly chronological. The second, especially after the change of government in 1994, is more thematic. The Institute dealt with various aspects of policy all at the same time, so I have separated them out by topic to make for easier reading.


The first three chapters deal with my home life, my ancestry, and my education. I was involved for most of my time at Wits in student politics. Even though the future looked bleak, this was the heyday of campus liberalism, much to the anger of Prime Minister Vorster. But it also saw the beginnings of the Black Consciousness movement inspired by Steve Biko. My time at Oxford was very different in that I spent most of it in libraries. Left to my own devices in my third and final year by a supervisor who abandoned me, I read a vast amount on South Africa that prepared me for the next phase of my working life.


This was 10 years in journalism, covered in chapters 4–8. I spent the first six years on the Financial Mail, a newspaper with a powerful liberal thrust and one not afraid to anger Mr Vorster. At Wits I’d felt the power of the spoken word in addressing packed mass meetings. Now I was able to use the written word to describe some of the worst cruelties and absurdities of apartheid, while also giving strong support to the emerging black trade union movement. I then had four years as a freelance journalist writing for newspapers in a dozen different countries. This gave me an international platform when the world was hungry for news from South Africa, then supposedly headed for race war and revolution. It was the heyday of PW Botha, reviled by so many but to whom I was happy to give credit for repealing the pass laws, whose inhumanity I had done much to expose. I eventually got bored and frustrated writing for foreign papers, however, and joined the South African Institute of Race Relations as its chief executive.


Chapters 9–15 deal with my time at the Institute. First and foremost I had to ensure the organisation’s survival. This meant making some unpopular decisions. I made myself even more unpopular in some quarters by declaring that apartheid was on the way out when few people could see any light at the end of the tunnel. As if that were not bad enough, we broke a liberal taboo by criticising revolutionary violence at a time when others were playing it down. A chapter is devoted to the ruling party’s continuing commitment to revolution, one deals with its racial policies, and one sets out a robust classically liberal alternative to South Africa’s current policy direction, especially in the labour field. I argue the case for dethroning the state and enthroning the individual, and for revitalising the principle that the law should be colour-blind. The final chapter puts forward a set of practical ideas on how to bring about fundamental policy change.


This book is then to a large extent about power: its use, its abuse, its disintegration, and its acquisition. It’s also about a lifetime in opposition to the abuse of power. I haven’t theorised about power, but simply described how its use or misuse has usually hurt the most defenceless people. However, I have also joyfully described how the powerless have sometimes been able to turn the tables on the powerful. I myself never had any weapons, other than words. One of my favourite poems at school was Tennyson’s ‘Ulysses’. He says that, sword-like, he longs to shine in use, not be left to rust. I took the same view of freedom of speech. It was not merely a right, but a weapon to be used. And I spent much of my life using it, starting at school and then through university into journalism and the Institute. But speaking truth to power, as I tried to do, and enjoyed doing, was never enough. I seized opportunities to put forward alternative ideas. I did this in the apartheid era, and I regarded it as equally important to do it in the post-apartheid era as the country started once again to founder.


I worked hard. But no account of what I did would be complete without saying something about other interests. I’d read plenty about the Russian Revolution, but on visits to Russia I was far more interested in their paintings and their palaces than in visiting revolutionary sites. I’ve described some of these in the appropriate place. But I’ve also tried to describe some of the pleasure I got from reading, classical music, the London theatre, and travel to the Kruger Park and elsewhere. I went on pilgrimages to Commonwealth war cemeteries, among them the one at Alamein, where so many South Africans fought. And I went to Adolf Hitler’s hideout in the Austrian Alps. How, I wondered, could such evil be plotted in such beautiful surroundings?


I have cited sources wherever possible. Sometimes the source is a published article in a foreign newspaper. However, I did not always receive clippings of my articles as published – assuming they were published! – so I have sometimes used instead the telexed articles as I sent them off prior to publication.


Although this book conveys mainly what I wrote and said, I sometimes use the term ‘we’ instead of ‘I’. This is not a royal ‘we’, but rather conveys the fact that opinions expressed in the Financial Mail although written by me were expressed as the view of the paper. So also, opinions expressed by me while I was at the Institute were also expressed on behalf of the organisation. Sometimes the views expressed on behalf of the organisation were written not by me but by colleagues under my direction. Some of what I said or wrote appears in quotation marks, but some in the form of indirect speech. I’ve also sometimes simply conveyed my ideas directly rather than by referring to what I said at a particular time or in a particular place.


This book usually refers to the South African Institute of Race Relations as ‘the Institute’. After I retired as chief executive the official name remained unchanged but the organisation was often referred to simply as the ‘Institute of Race Relations’ or as ‘the IRR’.


My thanks are due to the Oppenheimer Memorial Trust for a generous grant which enabled me to write these memoirs. They are dedicated to Pierre Roestorf, who walked this journey with me while providing me with a wonderful home life.












CHAPTER 1


Home, school, army


Born in 1946, I grew up in a happy, comfortable, and politically conscious family. My father loathed the National Party. ‘These people are simply inhuman,’ he would say.


My earliest memory is of our house in Illovo, Johannesburg, burning down. It is 28 November 1951, my brother Peter’s fourth birthday. He is ill in bed and I have been making a nuisance of myself, so my mother has sent me out into the garden. There, in my mind’s eye, a man called Jack waves a languid arm up at smoke billowing from the thatched roof, and goes on with his digging. I scream.


Our borehole in this peri-urban area had dried up. When the fire engine came it had no water in it, and the house was quickly a smouldering ruin. As national chairman of the War Veterans’ Torch Commando, my father, Louis, born in 1905, was a household name around the country. There was immediate speculation that the fire was sabotage because the Torch had been launched to fight the NP’s plans to throw ‘coloured’ (mixed-race) voters off the common roll. ‘Illovo home of Torch chairman burnt down’ said the headline on the front page of one paper. Dad dismissed this, for the cause was a workman’s carelessness with a blow torch while doing some waterproofing on the roof.


After the fire we lived in rented houses before moving to a house we built in the nearby suburb of Waverley. It had a double garage, open to the street. When they parked in the garage, my parents simply threw their car keys into the cubbyholes of their cars. Theft never crossed their minds. Once a week the cars were left out in the short driveway and the garage was used as a classroom for domestic servants in the neighbourhood. The YMCA provided a literacy teacher. After a year or two the government put a stop to this, using the laws that regulated what Africans might or might not do in supposedly ‘white’ suburbs other than work as domestic servants. The ban on the YMCA’s literacy classes in our garage was a typically spiteful piece of what many people called ‘petty apartheid’. My father always took the view, however, that there was no such thing as ‘petty apartheid’. It was all inhuman. I was to spend a large part of my working life delving into the logic behind all these racial laws and exposing their consequences.


One of those denied literacy education when the YMCA night school was closed was Charlie Sikhakhane, who had worked for my father’s parents since long before the Second World War. At the bottom of our garden in Waverley he grew ‘weeds’ that my father kept telling him to pull up and throw away, to no avail. One day the police arrived to search his room and the whole of our servants’ quarters. Charlie’s wife, Eva, who also worked for us, whispered to my mother that they must on no account be allowed to open a certain locked cupboard. Asked what was in it, my mother said, ‘My husband keeps his tools in there and he takes the key to work.’ This was ingenious because if my father had ever had any tools, he wouldn’t have known how to use them. However, the police accepted the story and left. Charlie then produced the key, and he, Eva, and my mother loaded several suitcases full of dagga into my mother’s car and drove off to dump them somewhere. My father was furious, pointing out that he, as an attorney, was an officer of the court, and that he was now being compromised because my mother was defeating the ends of justice in helping to get rid of the dagga. Charlie stayed with my parents for another 30 years or more. When we were little he had more or less carte blanche to discipline us if we were naughty. ‘Daddy, Daddy, Charlie hit me,’ we would wail when my father came home from the office. ‘Well, I am sure you deserved it,’ would be the inevitable reply before he went back to reading his newspaper.
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Five brothers at our home in Waverley in about 1960. From left to right, Michael, Charles, Brian, Peter, and me.


Although the government prevented our garage in Waverley from being a classroom, I used it as a theatre. My brothers, friends, and neighbours were roped in to form a company called The Garage Players. We did bits of Macbeth and Richard III, the wig I used as Lady Macbeth doubling as my wig for Richard, in which role I did my schoolboy best to imitate Laurence Olivier in his great film. Jack Ralphs, my English teacher at St John’s College, lent us the costumes from the school’s wardrobe, but admonished me after watching my performance: ‘You spoke too fast.’ Not a great start for my theatrical ambitions. Our amateur lighting technician also managed to break the fittings, so the show, which included exhibitions of ballet, jiving, and Elvis Presley, went ahead by candlelight. Proceeds of £6 12s 3d went to the African Children’s Feeding Scheme. This was the only show our theatrical company managed, but we did put out three issues of The Garage Players Newsletter in 1959, an early sign that I was likely to go further in journalism than on the stage.


Every Sunday evening my brothers and I would be required to learn and recite poetry in front of the family, with a crown (five shillings) for the winner. My father, who was not religious, always used to talk about the beauty of the language in the Bible and other great works of literature. Perhaps that’s why I’ve never liked the alternatives to the King James Bible. Contrast this:


In the beginning God created the heaven and the earth. And the earth was without form, and void; and darkness was upon the face of the deep. And the Spirit of God moved upon the face of the waters.


With this:


In the beginning God created the heavens and the earth. Now the earth was formless and empty. Darkness was on the surface of the deep. God’s Spirit was hovering over the surface of the waters.1


An Anglican Prayer Book is likewise a poor substitute for the elegant phraseology of Thomas Cranmer’s Book of Common Prayer, first published in 1549 and still in use in a few churches in Johannesburg.


Another clear memory of our time in Waverley was Sharpeville, when 69 Africans were shot dead on 21 March 1960 during a demonstration against the pass laws. As a newspaper addict, I always used to go down to breakfast before my father to snatch a few minutes with the Rand Daily Mail before he commandeered it. At the age of 14 I stared in horror and bewilderment at the photographs of all the bodies on the front page. Many of the dead, it later transpired, had been shot in the back. Shortly afterwards the Pan-Africanist Congress (PAC), which had organised the Sharpeville demonstration, and the African National Congress were banned. They remained banned for the next 30 years, forced to operate underground and in exile.


One of my classmates at St John’s College was Nicholas Reeves, whose father, Ambrose Reeves, was the Anglican bishop of Johannesburg. Bishop Reeves made it his business to expose what had happened. Inter alia, he visited some of the victims at Baragwanath Hospital and later wrote Shooting at Sharpeville, a book which infuriated the government and outraged the vast majority of whites, who had been happy to believe the official account that the massacre had been a case of self-defence by the police.


No doubt reflecting the views of their parents, some boys at school made plain their hostility to Nicholas. His parents also received death threats, causing them to ask if he could come and stay with us, which he did, as all the tension at Bishop’s House in Westcliff was making it impossible for him to do his homework. The Reeves family soon returned to the United Kingdom, Nicholas being the first of my friends to leave the country. Bishop Reeves became president of the Anti-apartheid Movement.


There were not many liberals among the St John’s boys, although this was not true of the staff and least of all of the headmaster, Deane Yates. Yates made me secretary/treasurer of something called the St John’s African Education Fund. It was set up to put an African student through university, the idea being that if each St John’s boy paid in 10 cents a term it would be enough to finance the student, Clarence Ndlovu. My job was to get the boys to pay up, which sometimes elicited racist remarks, especially when Clarence failed some of his courses.


My experiences at school showed that support for the NP’s policies went far beyond the Afrikaners. It was also to be found among the supposedly more liberal – and often more affluent – English-speaking section of the population, some of whom could be as racist in their language and attitudes as any member of an unashamedly right-wing party.


I also learnt that Afrikaners did not all support apartheid. I went along one day to Holy Trinity Church in Braamfontein to listen to a talk by Beyers Naudé, who had just founded the Christian Institute of Southern Africa to oppose apartheid. I went with Robin Margo, a friend from King Edward VII School, whose house was just down the road from ours after we moved from Waverley to Houghton. Robin and I later served together on the Students’ Representative Council at the University of the Witwatersrand (Wits). We also worked together at the Institute for a short time.


St John’s was an Anglican school. Chapel was compulsory. There was a sung mass on the first and last days of term, but on weekdays during term the service consisted of a hymn, a lesson, and a prayer every morning. Each day had a different prayer. One of these was ‘for the right solution to all the problems presented by the native and coloured peoples’. I went along to one of the chaplains and complained. The ‘problems’ were not ‘presented by the native and coloured peoples’ but rather arose from the attitudes of whites towards them. The wording was later changed to a prayer ‘for the right solution to all our racial problems’.


Father Neville Jarvis Palmer (‘JP’), the senior chaplain, used to take parties of boys to Soweto once or twice a year. On the way we visited the Church of Christ the King in Sophiatown, whence many people had been forcibly removed to Soweto. It was partly about this that Trevor Huddleston had published Naught for your Comfort in 1956. Like Alan Paton’s global bestseller Cry, the Beloved Country, published in 1948, it helped put apartheid onto the international map, demonstrating the power of the written word.


These were not my first visits to Soweto, whose name was an acronym for South Western Townships. While still in prep school, I sometimes went with my mother on Saturday mornings to Chiawelo, one of the districts in Soweto, where she helped run a shop for Kupugani, a non-profit organisation selling foods to combat malnutrition. This was one of many charitable activities in which my mother, born Gabrielle de Maine in 1922, involved herself throughout most of her life – indeed, well into her eighties. Like my father, she was a member of the Liberal Party. She also raised money via an annual morning market for the Black Sash to help finance the advice centres it ran to assist Africans who fell foul of the pass laws designed to limit their presence in supposedly ‘white’ areas and so keep these areas as ‘white’ as possible.


St John’s gave me experience in, and a taste for, journalism. I was appointed one of the editors of the school magazine, The Johannian, and given more or less a free hand with its content by the master in charge, Angus Rose.


One of my fellow editors was Michael Arnold, who many years later became the school chaplain. He won the Lawson Poetry Prize for a poem about British Prime Minister Harold Macmillan’s visit in 1960 to South Africa, which Piet Cillié, editor of Die Burger, had described shortly after Sharpeville as the polecat of the world.2 Macmillan shocked his audience of MPs and no doubt most of the rest of white South Africa by warning them of the wind of change, the powerful force of national consciousness that was rising in the African continent.3


Referring to Macmillan’s own words, the poem was entitled ‘The Winds of Change’:


This gentle breeze doth purge the desert air


Embalming flowers with a fragrance fair


A fragrance such as rank hyenas know


A rancid stench a polecat would forgo


Yet fetid polecats are not quite the thing


About which educated citizens should sing


At least our newspapers would have us so believe


And why should press men trouble to deceive


When they with noted radio must compete


To noise abroad the newest and the fairest feat?


Not bad for a school magazine.


In sixth form in 1963 one of my classmates, Clive Nettleton, and I started a newsletter which we called Sixth Sense. We naturally specialised in publishing provocative and controversial stuff. There was no censorship, but circulation was restricted to prefects, matrics, sixth formers, and staff. On one occasion we gave Mr Rose an anonymous platform for a scathing attack on one of the school’s hallowed traditions – its Gilbert and Sullivan productions. He wrote that G&S had a ‘stranglehold’ over the school’s musical development. The headmaster carpeted Clive and myself, but he not did demand the name of the author.


I also started writing letters to the press. One of them was a parody of Mark Antony’s sarcastic rabble-rousing speech in Julius Caesar:



Friends, citizens, countrymen, lend me your ears


I come to bury Freedom, not to praise her …


The noble Vorster


Hath told you Freedom was a Communist


If it were so, it was a grievous fault


And grievously hath Freedom answered it


And Vorster is an honourable man …


My effort at parodied blank verse was published in the Rand Daily Mail,4 in the midst of one of the security clampdowns by the minister of justice, John Vorster, to curtail political resistance. I enjoyed writing this kind of thing, and my parents encouraged me. So did Deane Yates. Alan Paton also quoted my parody in a lecture at Wits.5 The so-called Rivonia trial of Nelson Mandela and others opened in October that same year and in due course led to their imprisonment, in Mandela’s case for 27 years.


South Africa had passed another landmark only a month before that, when Solomon ‘Looksmart’ Ngudle, a trade unionist and member of the ANC, was found hanged in his cell at security police headquarters in Pretoria. Accused of being an organiser for Umkhonto we Sizwe, the military arm of the ANC, he was the first person to die in police custody while in detention under a law enacted earlier in the year to provide for detention without trial for up to 90 days.


Nearly 25 years later the Institute published a study of deaths in detention under the title Behind Closed Doors.6 Several Institute fact sheets on detention had been banned so we distributed Behind Closed Doors as widely as we could before releasing it to the press so that any ban – none came – would be futile. By that stage 90-day detention had been superseded by 180-day detention and that in turn by indefinite detention without trial. Like banning orders, detention laws were designed to curtail resistance to apartheid. Instead they provided further focal points for opposition, as liberal critics predicted at the time.


Best known of all those who died in detention was Steve Biko, the fiftieth person known to have done so at that stage. A few years before he was beaten to death in September 1977 he took me to visit some of the ‘dumping grounds’ in the Eastern Cape into which people had been removed under the policy of ethnic cleansing pursued by the NP government and about which I was then writing for the Financial Mail. He did this although he was by then under a banning order.


In my sixth-form year I won a prize for an essay on Jan Hendrik Hofmeyr. He had been deputy prime minister for much of the war while General Smuts was up north. He was also the great liberal hope of the United Party (UP), though he was out of tune with his party, which shared many of the racial attitudes of the NP. Hofmeyr’s liberal views had been blamed for Smuts’s loss of power to Dr DF Malan’s NP in the fateful 1948 election. Alan Paton was writing a biography of Hofmeyr, so I sent him my schoolboy offering, which he read carefully enough to pick up some contradictions.7 Paton’s book was subsequently launched at a function in our garage in St Patrick’s Road in Houghton in 1964.


With schoolboy presumption I must have written to compliment him on it, because I received a letter thanking me for doing so. He said that most South African biographers failed to understand the nature of biography, which was ‘not to make a point, preach a policy, help a party, or aggrandise a man – it was primarily to tell the life of a human being’. South African autobiographies, he said, were ‘too terrible’. ‘No one should write an autobiography, unless he is vitally interested in others beside himself.’8 Many years later, when I was working for the Financial Mail, I sent Paton a novel to review. He sent it back and wrote, ‘As a rule I don’t review novels, but if I dislike the novel then I am doubly opposed to reviewing it. Just imagine for example what complications would set in if I were to review a novel by Nadine Gordimer unfavourably.’9


Still later, when I was working at the South African Institute of Race Relations, he wrote to complain about a ‘mealy-mouthed’ review we had published of a book on South African liberalism by a man called Paul Rich. He added: ‘Don’t take any notice of this letter. It is the work of a “crusty” old devil who never made it to the top. Good luck with the SAIRR. I don’t envy you the job. When I come to power, Rich won’t have long to live.’ Paton’s own review of the book was headlined ‘Author Rich, Book Poor’.10


After completing sixth form I was called up by the army. Until then national service was only three or four months, but my intake was one of the first to go for nine months. Part of the reason no doubt was that Umkhonto we Sizwe, under Nelson Mandela’s leadership, had launched its campaign of sabotage on 16 December 1961.


During my basic training at Potchefstroom, I was selected with two others from my regiment, the Transvaal Scottish, to go on an officers’ training course at the Army Gymnasium in Voortrekkerhoogte outside Pretoria. We were told we would live in the officers’ mess, each with his own room, and a batman to bring us tea in the mornings. This, of course, turned out to be nothing more than bait. We slept eight of us to a tent during the freezing Pretoria winter.


Part of our training was elaborate parade-ground work. But we also had lectures on military law, how to conduct courts martial and summary trials, mess etiquette, which glass to use for which wine should you ever be invited to a state banquet, and on ‘promotion and maintenance of the desire to learn’. This last contained tips so sensible it is amazing they are not routinely used in every classroom and lecture theatre everywhere. First, we were told, when you go into a classroom to give a lecture, start with a joke or a funny story to get everyone’s attention. Then explain what you’re going to teach them. Then ask questions arising from what you’ve taught. Don’t invite people to put up their hands with the answers. Wait half a minute and then call on somebody by name to stand up and answer the question. This would make sure that everyone would pay attention throughout the lecture for fear of being made to look foolish if they couldn’t answer. The instructor would then be able to assess whether or not ‘instruction has been assimilated’.


Some manoeuvres were held at Kakhuiskloof, west of Pretoria. This was a beautiful piece of hilly country, from which the distant lights of Johannesburg in the night sky were a magnificent sight. Our lectures on military law had included warnings against assaulting lower ranks. When we got to Kakhuiskloof we were told to forget everything we ever learnt about military law because it didn’t apply to our instructors when we were in the veld. Other manoeuvres were along the Tugela River in KwaZulu-Natal in a week of drenching rain during which we came across many Boer War graves. The training was physically extremely tough – said to be the toughest after the training for the parabat battalion at Tempe, outside Bloemfontein. The reasoning was that infantry platoon leaders could not lead men into battle unless they had proved they could take it themselves.


Half our training during field manoeuvres was in conventional warfare, the other half in counter-insurgency, known as COIN operations. During the latter we were issued with sweets to hand out to any children we came across when searching rural areas and villages for ‘terrorists’ hiding out there. (These ‘terrorists’ were usually played by men from other regiments identified by the black tracksuits they wore.) We were also instructed to observe protocol. If you approached a village, you didn’t just march in, but should send a small patrol ahead to ask to see the headman. He would probably invite you into his hut, where you should immediately squat down as a mark of respect. He was then likely to offer you something to drink. No matter how foul you suspected it might taste, either you or your second-in-command had to drink it, for refusal would be an insult. Polite or not, some of our manoeuvres were nevertheless intrusions into the tranquillity of some of these villages with their cattle.


Sometimes we went on route marches to supposedly classified destinations. When we got there, men with little ice cream carts packed with dry ice would be lying in the grass waiting for us. So much for military secrets.


At the end of all this, I was told I had failed the course. Something odd had in fact happened right at the start. Shortly before we packed up our kitbags and backpacks to leave Potchefstroom for Pretoria, one of my fellow trainees was told to stand by as he would be going instead of me. No explanation was given, and in the end I went as planned. But I later managed to get hold of my personal file. There I found a telegram from the army chief of staff to the commandant of the Potchefstroom camp wanting confirmation as to whether the ‘above-mentioned ballottee’ – one Kane-Berman – had been selected for the course. I could only surmise that this attention from on high was because I was my father’s son. He had been on the reserve of officers after his time in the Western Desert and Italy during the war, but was purged from active duty during Torch Commando days.


After Voortrekkerhoogte I was posted to Lenz military camp opposite Lenasia, a few stops on the railway line after Soweto on the way to Vereeniging. While I was there, John Harris, a member of the African Resistance Movement (ARM) who had joined the Liberal Party as a cover, planted a bomb in the Johannesburg railway station on 24 July 1964. It killed 77-year-old Ethel Rhys and partially destroyed the face of her 12-year-old granddaughter, Glynnis Burleigh. Harris was subsequently hanged for this crime. A schoolboy by the name of Peter Hain read the lesson at Harris’s funeral. Five years later, having emigrated to the UK, Hain organised a campaign to stop a planned Springbok cricket tour to that country.


The station bomb was the beginning of the end of the Liberal Party. Maritz van den Berg, who had been a leading member of the party and a friend of Harris, whom he visited in prison until the day before his execution, later wrote that his crime of ‘premeditated murder’ had dealt a death blow to the party.11 Alan Paton, president of the party, said Harris was guilty not only of inhumanity and cowardice, but of ‘putting a bomb’ under the party.12


After the station bomb, raids, detentions, and arrests intensified. One of those detained without trial was Ernie Wentzel, an advocate who appeared for the defence in numerous political trials, and also a leading light in the Liberal Party. Ernie was instrumental in my joining the Institute as its chief executive 19 years later. He also became my first board chairman. Typical of Ernie was that he later got hold of his old cell door from the Marshall Square police station and installed it at his home in Sandringham. He would demonstrate how the warders or the police would bang on his cell door each morning, ‘Kom, Wentzel, kom. Brekfis. Dink jy jy’s in ’n hotel?’ And then Ernie would go into stitches of laughter, as only he could.


According to Ernie’s widow, Jill Wentzel, Harris had begged Ernie, ‘Please don’t let them hang me.’ Ernie declined to defend him as he was too close to Harris. Few others would take the case. Eventually, Harris’s attorney, Ruth Hayman, went to call on Namie Philips, QC, who said to her in a lugubrious voice, ‘Ruth, I know why you’ve come, and I will do it.’ Namie’s son David and I were together at Wits. On one occasion when the Harris trial came up during a lecture, David said in a stage whisper, ‘Defended by Mr N Philips QC.’ I could tell how proud he was of his father for taking so unpopular a case.


In the three months between finishing the army and enrolling at Wits at the beginning of 1965, I worked at Vanguard Booksellers in Johannesburg. Owned and run by the redoubtable Fanny Klenerman, Vanguard gave jobs to several people who were subject to banning orders under the Suppression of Communism Act of 1950, which empowered the minister of justice to impose such orders on anyone he thought might be furthering the aims of communism. If you were banned you could not be quoted, enter premises where anything was published, or leave the magisterial district to which your ban confined you. There was no trial or appeal nor any obligation upon the minister to produce proof, give reasons, or explain what he meant by ‘communism’ as he wielded his pen. Most bans lasted for five years, and many were renewed more than once.


Among the banned people at Vanguard were Helen Joseph and Shantie Naidoo. Helen was the first person to be put under night-time and weekend house arrest, in 1962.13 She had been prominent in various organisations and activities aligned with the ANC, and had also been one of the accused in the unsuccessful (for the prosecution) ‘Treason Trial’ which opened in 1958 and ended in 1961. Later she became famous for a book, Tomorrow’s Sun, about people banished to remote parts of the country to take them out of political circulation.


Shantie, like her three brothers, had been involved in political and trade union activity. She’d been banned in 1963 and again in 1968. When she tried to leave the country some years later she was granted an exit permit by the minister of the interior, but refused permission by the minister of justice to leave the magisterial district of Johannesburg to travel to the airport. Eventually he gave her permission upon receipt of an undertaking from her that she would not involve herself in anti-South African activities abroad.14 Before she left the country, I used to visit Shantie from time to time at the family home in Doornfontein. I gave her a pile of gramophone records to send to Robben Island to be played for prisoners, among them Indres, one of her brothers. The Naidoos were one of the last Indian families to have to leave this supposedly ‘white’ area in terms of the Group Areas Act and move to Lenasia, a township near Soweto demarcated as a group area for Indians and Asians.


Officials from the Department of Customs and Excise used to drop in to Vanguard to inspect shipments of new books. Anything suspect was embargoed for sale, and a copy sent to the Publications Control Board for vetting – and possible banning – before it could be released. On one occasion I remember one of the officials paging through Is Sex Necessary? by James Thurber and trying to decide whether it was pornographic or not.


Vanguard was a wonderfully pleasant experience from a racial point of view, in that everyone from Fanny Klenerman downwards was on first-name terms – although I always called her ‘Miss Klenerman’. She was politically on the Left, and I assumed that Vanguard was named for ‘vanguard of the proletariat’.


Before racing ahead to the years of university and beyond, let me round off my family history. My brothers and I spent nearly all our school holidays at Lowlands, a farm belonging to my grandparents, Noel and Gay (neé Brereton) de Maine, outside Barberton, a small town nestling at the foot of one of the mountains in the De Kaap Valley, so named because the first white settlers thought it as beautiful as the Cape. My father had been in the military camp there before going up North during the Second World War, and there he had met my mother on a blind date. This happened when one of my father’s brother officers drove him to my grandparents’ house and then went in on his behalf to ask my mother to join him at a dance in the town hall. ‘What’s the matter with him? Can’t he come inside and ask me himself?’ she demanded. Then in his mid-thirties, my father was both taken aback and impressed by this response from a matric pupil half his age. However, they didn’t get married until nearly the end of the war, in which she also served, as a gunner, on Robben Island and Signal Hill in Cape Town, and on the Bluff in Durban.


At Lowlands I was never more content than when driving a 1945 Farmall tractor, from the age of about 10. My grandfather didn’t really approve of this as he thought I would fall off and get run over, so tuition by one of the tractor drivers, Jack Twala, had to be clandestine. Across the road from Lowlands was the farm Verulam. There lived Bill and Doreen Carlin, one of whose daughters, Pamela, married Jonathan Ball.


Blue gums planted as windbreaks lined the fields where mealies, cotton, and tobacco were planted in rotation. Everywhere else was bushveld except where grass had been planted as fodder for the beef herd, a mixture of Afrikander and Sussex. As a little boy I used to think that the noise of the cicadas was coming from the millions of stars twinkling in the night sky. Often you would see the glow of veld fires on the surrounding mountains at night. When I wasn’t driving the tractor or my grandfather around in his truck, I was riding a bicycle along the railway line which cut through the farm or pushing it up some of the surrounding mountains looking for a legendary ghost city where there had once been some gold diggings, these hills being where gold was first discovered in South Africa in 1884.


Although I thought Lowlands was just about the most beautiful place in the most beautiful setting in the world, I was never tempted to become a farmer. Lowlands was sold not long after my grandfather died in 1965. Two of my brothers, Peter and Brian, went farming, first in the Carolina district in the late 1960s and then at Arnot, halfway between Johannesburg and the Kruger Park, and where they have built up a great enterprise, Beestepan Boerdery. My youngest brother, Charles, later joined them. A fourth brother, Michael, taught at one of the schools on the farm. Though he had little formal training he was by all accounts an unusually gifted teacher. But he was also a drug addict. He committed suicide in 1999.


The schools were built by my brothers for the children of their staff, but in time there were enough places to accommodate children from neighbouring farms. Few of the neighbouring farmers were prepared to transport their workers’ children to school, so my brothers sent out vehicles to fetch them every morning.


The project started with pre-primary schools, to which a primary school was soon added. My parents had gone to live on the farm after my father’s retirement from legal practice in 1979 and the primary school was registered that same year. My mother soon took it under her wing.


Apart from fund-raising, apartheid policy had to be dealt with. It had forced the closure of the night school in our garage in Waverley all those many years ago. Now it put restrictions on farm schools. Under the pass and influx control laws, children of African farmworkers in the supposedly white parts of South Africa were permitted to study only at primary school. If they wanted secondary education, they had to take themselves off to one or other of the ‘homelands’. Education was thus subordinate to the overarching policy of reducing the numbers of Africans in the white areas.


The local education authorities refused permission for post-primary grades to be added. Fortunately, I had got to know Sam de Beer, minister of education and training in the NP government. I arranged for my mother and my brother Brian to see him. He agreed that tuition could be offered up to matric. This was quite a breakthrough. The high school produced its first matriculants in 1993. In that same year the Johannesburg College of Education presented its ‘rector’s gold medal’ to the ‘Kane-Berman family and Beestepan Boerdery’ for the establishment of the schools. At the end of 1993 Sam de Beer came to perform the official opening of the Beestepan Agricultural High School’s new campus near my brother Peter’s house.


After the ANC came to power, my brothers extended an invitation to one of its education ministers, Kader Asmal. I had been to see him when he was teaching law while in exile at Trinity College, Dublin. He now came to visit the high school. One of his entourage complained that some of the teachers were white. Sophie Mokoena, the African woman to whom the complaint was addressed, happened to be the chairman of the school governing body; she sent this official off with a flea in his ear. Here was an interesting contrast: black parents did not object to white teachers, but black officials did.


What about my ancestry? My grandmother’s father, Alfred William Brereton, born in 1862, had been an Anglican clergyman, and his wife, Daisy, born in 1868, was the daughter of Canon Charles Taberer of St Matthew’s Mission in Keiskammahoek in the Eastern Cape. Brereton evidently became the first registrar of Rhodes University.15 The family came from Cheshire in England, where their Elizabethan home is now a girls’ school. Sir William Brereton, one of the four knights who murdered Thomas Becket at the behest of King Henry II in 1170, is claimed as an ancestor. My maternal grandfather was Noel de Maine, born in 1890, whose father came from Yorkshire and had been MP for Albany in the old Cape province.


My father’s mother, Esther Stuart Kane, born in 1882, came from a Roman Catholic family in Dundee, Scotland. Family legend had it that she was somehow descended from Mary Queen of Scots, but my cousin Jocelyne Kane-Berman (later Ritchie) did all the necessary research and found this to be just that – legend. My father’s father, Myer Berman, was born in Lithuania in 1877 whence he literally ran away to Germany as a boy to escape conscription. His elder brother was a corporal in the Russian army, the highest rank open to Jews, and had had a cross branded on his chest by Cossacks. With little formal education, my grandfather worked in brush factories in both Germany and England, before marrying my grandmother in London in 1902.16 He eventually became a bookmaker at Tattersalls in Johannesburg.


My maternal grandmother made a name for herself as a young woman when a German submarine torpedoed the Lusitania off the coast of Ireland in May 1915 en route from New York to Liverpool during the First World War. Although it was also carrying munitions, this was a passenger liner and 1 198 lives were lost. An angry mob went on the rampage in Johannesburg. They were threatening to burn down the German church in Hillbrow, near where my grandparents lived. My grandmother rushed over and successfully pleaded with the crowd to spare the church. Eventually they cheered her.17 She later became chief commandant of the Red Cross in South Africa. When she died in 1943, the prime minister, Field Marshal Smuts, said ‘we have lost a great citizen’.18


The War Veterans’ Torch Commando was founded in 1951, the year after Smuts’s death, to oppose the Nationalists’ plans to remove coloured voters from the common roll, where they had been registered since 1853. Under the Union Constitution, which had come into operation in 1910, franchise rights could be removed only by a two-thirds majority of both the House of Assembly and the Senate at a joint sitting. The African common-roll franchises had been removed in 1936. Plans for a limited franchise for Indians fell through in 1948.19 Now it was the turn of coloured voters. Even though they constituted only a fraction of the total on the common roll, they were now to be put on a separate roll to elect four (white) MPs. The reason why they were to be thrown off the common roll was that they would vote against the Nationalists in various marginal seats.20


The Separate Representation of Voters Act of 1951 was passed by a simple majority, as the NP did not have two thirds. Challenged by four coloured voters, the act was declared null and void by the Appellate Division (AD) of the Supreme Court. The NP then put through the High Court of Parliament Act of 1952, in terms of which Parliament would be the final court of appeal on constitutional matters. A hundred Nationalist MPs – in fact the NP caucus – then solemnly constituted themselves as judges and overruled the AD. But the AD invalidated the High Court of Parliament Act as well.


The NP then passed the Appellate Division Quorum Act of 1955 to increase the size of the AD to 11 when sitting on constitutional matters. Extra judges were appointed. The NP also passed the Senate Act of 1955, entitling them to appoint enough senators to give the Nationalists the necessary two thirds at a joint sitting of both Houses of Parliament. These manoeuvres were also taken on appeal, but eventually, by 10 votes to 1, the AD upheld them. The coloured (and Asian) voters in the Cape were duly removed from the common roll in 1956,21 though it took the government five years to do this. The single dissenting vote on the AD was that of Oliver Schreiner, who later became president of the South African Institute of Race Relations and chancellor of the University of the Witwatersrand.


The government’s constitutional manoeuvring prompted a cartoon in the Rand Daily Mail by Bob Connolly depicting the Constitution with a mourning sash over it. A women’s group established to defend the Constitution donned black sashes and stood in silent protest outside Parliament, the Union Buildings, and in many other parts of the country, including airports, whenever cabinet ministers were due to appear. This was the origin of the Black Sash, whose members were subsequently often to be found standing in silent protest against detention-without-trial and other laws, while also devoting a great deal of energy to helping pass-law victims.22


Although enacted by the British parliament, the Union Constitution was in fact a wholly South African document which the British rubber-stamped. The British had indeed ignored the objections of black South Africans who had gone to London to implore them not to hand independence to South Africa under a constitution which entrenched white minority rule.


Thwarted by the courts in their initial attempts to remove coloured voters from the common roll, the Nationalists labelled the Constitution an ‘imperialist’ document. The AD judges were ‘old men’ and ‘five paid officials’. To submit to their attack on the ‘sovereignty’ of Parliament would be ‘constitutional enslavement’.


All these arguments were refuted in various documents, among them a booklet written for the Torch by a Cape advocate, MM (Mick) Corbett. He accused the NP of behaving not only illegally, but also immorally and in ‘gross bad faith’ in violating the ‘solemn compact’ entered into at the time of Union. Said Corbett: ‘Just as the humblest citizen must abide by the law, so the government must abide by the law.’23 Later elevated to the Bench, Corbett became known for his advocacy of a bill of rights for South Africa. In 1989 he was appointed chief justice, in which capacity he delivered the Institute’s Hoernlé Memorial Lecture in 1990. Four years later he administered the oath of office to Nelson Mandela when the NP formally handed over power to the ANC at the Union Buildings on 10 May 1994.


The NP’s constitutional manoeuvring outraged tens of thousands of South Africans, not least ex-servicemen, Afrikaans as well as English-speaking. My father wrote that coloured soldiers had played a significant role in the Second World War as volunteers in the Desert and in Italy. Ex-servicemen were determined to rouse the electorate in resistance to the plan to remove them from the common roll.24 Their franchise rights, and the constitutional clauses protecting them, should be regarded as ‘inviolate and sacrosanct’.


At its height the Torch had 250 000 signed-up members, each paying a minimum subscription of a few shillings.25 Alan Paton once said the Torch was the only white organisation the NP ever feared. The Nats had good reason to be frightened. The Torch forswore any form of violence and its members were never armed, but its leadership and about two thirds of its members were ex-servicemen, among them officers controlling most units of the Active Citizen Force. The Torch attracted up to 50 000 people to mass meetings outside the city halls in Johannesburg, Durban, Port Elizabeth, and Cape Town. Some of these, planned with military precision, were preceded by torch-lit processions from different parts of the city converging on the city hall. The torches were made of cotton wool doused in paraffin in tin cans, and were immediately dubbed blikfakkels (tin-can torches) by the Afrikaans press.


One night in October 1951 on the ninth anniversary of the Battle of Alamein, my father looked out over a sea of flaming torches outside the Johannesburg City Hall and declared to thousands of listeners, ‘These are the lights of democracy – let them be a source of comfort to the people of this country, whatever their language, race, or colour. They convey a message to the people of South Africa in the name of those who fought and lived and in the name of those who fought and died.’


There were huge meetings in smaller centres all over the country too. Meetings were sometimes broken up – by Nationalists, according to my father. How did he know this? ‘Who else would break up a meeting?’ They had once broken up a meeting in Lydenburg, a small town in what is now Mpumalanga. ‘So we immediately announced we’d have another meeting there the following week.’ More than 500 cars in convoys from Barberton, Nelspruit, White River, and other places all over the Lowveld converged simultaneously on the town. ‘You could not get into the town hall, nor could you get a gallon of petrol or a pint of beer in the town. It was Nagmaal so we were accused of desecrating that occasion, but we went back to assert that we had a right of free speech anywhere in the country.’ This time there were no attacks. One man who tried to heckle was treated to drinks afterwards by Torchmen who admired his courage.


The Torchmen’s practical assertion of the right of free speech impressed me enormously whenever my father mentioned it. More than 50 years later a judge who had been present as a young lawyer told me how proud he had been of my father and the Torch. Another ex-serviceman, to whom I proposed a toast at a small lunch on the seventieth anniversary of the victory in Europe in 1945, told me that my father had been an inspiration to him and many like him. Those who marched with the Torch have now nearly all died out.


Judges, civil servants, generals, and other army officers joined the Torch in such numbers that the government tried to prohibit this. Group Captain ‘Sailor’ Malan, a fighter pilot who had made a name for himself in the Battle of Britain, was the president, and my father the national chairman. The patron-in-chief was NJ de Wet, a former chief justice and officer administering the government.


The Torch had only one objective, which was to prevent the assault upon the Constitution and the removal of the coloured franchise. When it eventually failed thanks to all the NP’s manoeuvring, the organisation disbanded. However, it had also been divided on strategy, my father wanting to call a ‘national day of protest’ – a one-day strike against unconstitutional action. This prompted the minister of justice, CR (‘Blackie’) Swart (later first state president when South Africa became a republic in 1961), to accuse him of invoking the aid of non-Europeans against the government, while Prime Minister Malan branded the Torch ‘a most dangerous organisation’ and announced that he was moving some military reserves to Cape Town.26 There were also differences with the Torch’s allies in the ‘united front’ it formed with the official opposition, the United Party, and the Labour Party. If the UP won the April 1953 election, the coloured franchise would be preserved and the raison d’être for the Torch would fall away. But the NP increased its seats in Parliament from 86 to 94, while UP representation dropped. A month after the election the Liberal Party was formed.27


At the time the Torch was mobilising white opposition, the ANC had launched its defiance campaign against unjust laws. To break this, the government passed the Public Safety Act of 1953, which provided for the declaration of states of emergency, detention without trial, and rule by decree. It also passed the Criminal Law Amendment Act of 1953 to provide for imprisonment and whipping of anyone breaking the law, or inciting anyone to break the law, as part of a political protest. The bills were introduced by Justice Minister Swart, whom my father described as a ‘menace’. Said he: ‘We were bitterly opposed to these two bills in principle,’ but the UP leaders supported them because they never ‘wanted to fight anything on principle’. The head of one of the smaller mining companies had said to him at a fund-raising dinner hosted by Harry Oppenheimer: ‘During the war, Smuts imprisoned Afrikaners without trial and now you complain because the government wants to throw a few kaffirs into prison.’28 But my father regarded the introduction of detention without trial as an ominous step that should be resisted from day one.


One liberal UP member – there were not many such – by the name of Helen Suzman approached my father with a view to getting prominent Torchmen to join the UP to reform it from within. He told her that would be impossible. In fact it would be easier to reform the NP from within. In 1959, she and various other UP MPs broke away to form the Progressive Party. Unlike the Liberal Party, which was forced to dissolve itself in 1968, as we shall see below, the Progressive Party in various permutations survived into the post-apartheid era. Throughout the 1960s, the 1970s, and the 1980s it was the only real voice of liberalism in the South African parliament. Its successor, the Democratic Alliance, is now South Africa’s official opposition.


Tragically, the decline of the Torch after only two years was as rapid as its rise. But it had captured the imagination of the country. My grandmother once told me that people used to stop her in the streets in Barberton, and ask excitedly, ‘Do you think Louis will be prime minister?’ But the loss of our house and nearly all its contents in the fire in 1951, along with all the (unpaid) time my father had spent on the Torch, meant that my parents were broke. Dad accepted a partnership in a law firm, Hayman, Godfrey, and Sanderson. But there was a condition: no politics. It was the end of any active political career – and in my view as great a loss to the liberal cause in the country as JH Hofmeyr’s premature death in 1948.


The Nats did not forget the Torch, or my father, although they got the two of us mixed up. Many years later when I went to South West Africa to write a report for the Institute on the Ovambo strike at the end of 1971,29 a Nationalist deputy minister by the name of HE Martins stated in Parliament that the Torch had become friendly with the ANC and others breaking down the colour bar, stirring up hatred against the Afrikaner, and ‘encouraging anarchy, sabotage, strikes and even terrorism by means of liberalistic communism in South Africa’. The ‘notorious Kane-Berman’ who had been inciting all this was now ‘again interfering in the Ovambo problem in South West Africa’.30


When the Torch folded it had R16 000 left in the bank. This was given to the Rand Cape Coloured Children’s Health Fund. My father wrote that he thought this ‘an appropriate gesture in view of the ineradicable hurt that the government had done [the coloured] community on the subject of the franchise’.31 The fund had been started in 1932 to raise money to send children on holiday to the seaside. My parents served it as honorary legal adviser and honorary treasurer. Initially the children camped at the seaside but eventually the Transhaven Seaside Home at New Brighton Beach, Durban, was established. Many years later the Transhaven Seaside Fund wrote that my parents had played a prominent role in helping it to acquire the Durban property, which, Transhaven said, ‘stands as a monument to their unselfish sterling services’.32


When my mother died at the age of 90 in November 2012 Transhaven sent a delegation to her funeral at St George’s, Parktown. Ruth Spector, whose father, Frank Jacobs, had been honorary secretary of Transhaven for more than 30 years, and whose mother, Vera Jacobs, had also been a friend of my parents, wrote to me how her community had ‘benefited so greatly from the brave and encouraging work both Louis and Gaby Kane-Berman did during the days of apartheid to actively support and encourage our hopes, ambitions, and dreams of political equality and personal dignity through an impossibly fraught time’.33


I was very proud of my parents. This went beyond politics. They were devoted to one another, and devoted also to their children. They’d made sacrifices to send five boys to St John’s: it was, for example, very rare for them to travel abroad. My father had a reputation for absolute integrity, and my mother’s charm and sweet nature were admired as much by my friends as by her contemporaries. She combined strength of character with a sparkling personality, and was always ready for an adventure. And although she didn’t have a formal job, I soon learnt that making and running a beautiful home as well as bringing up five sons was a full-time job, even without all the charitable work she always had on the go.


Somehow, however, my mother also managed to find time to try her hand at painting, sculpting, making mosaics, and even welding. When she decided to wallpaper some of the rooms in our house, she did it herself. She had always wanted to study architecture, but the war intervened: she had to stay at home with her mother after her father joined the army again.


My father laid down strict rules, which of course he applied to himself as well as to us. When my mother came into the room we all stood up. Even when he was well into his eighties, he would struggle to his feet whenever one of his daughters-in-law entered the room. One of his rules was that we wore jacket and tie or cravat for dinner, which was sharp at seven every night. Being late or improperly dressed was out of the question. Some of my friends found this rather strange, but I could see the logic in it. Coming in every day after driving around the farm, my grandfather always changed for dinner. My grandmother always put on a long dress. In the army you would never dream of going in for supper without having showered and changed out of your fatigues, and polished up your buckles, badges, and boots. At Oxford a college official called the manciple inspected us every evening to ensure that we were wearing ties and gowns before he allowed us into Hall for dinner. My mother always took endless trouble preparing meals, so it was right that we should make the effort to dress properly.


So when my partner Pierre Roestorf and I were informed that we needed to take evening dress on board the Cunard ships on which we took four voyages, it did not bother us in the least. The ship’s crew and other staff were always properly attired, and we didn’t see why the passengers shouldn’t rise to their standards. In any event, a decent martini almost demands a black tie. Dressing for dinner every night was quite fun, in fact. Very easy for the men, who could happily look the same night after night. But we rather pitied the women who had somehow to contrive to find a different outfit every night and therefore had to travel with extra luggage. One woman on a three-month round-the-world voyage told us that she had her evening gowns flown to every port shortly before the ship docked there.
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Dressed for the occasion: Pierre Roestorf and me aboard the QE2.


If Dad’s strict rules about dress and other things never bothered me, it was perhaps because he was much more liberal about everything else – except swearing. He never swore, and would not allow us to say even so much as ‘bloody’. He was a keen sportsman, but it didn’t seem to worry him in the least that I wasn’t interested. There was one exception to this: he made us all take swimming lessons. He never tried to bully me into following him into law, or dissuade me from becoming a journalist or going to work at the Institute. He never tried to tell me what to think or what books I could or couldn’t read.


One of the reasons I decided not to do law was that I saw how hard my father worked. He would disappear to his study five nights a week to complete what he been unable to finish at the office. This meant that my parents seldom went out during the week, missing out on plays and concerts they would otherwise have attended. Dad also sometimes worked on Saturday or Sunday afternoons, after playing tennis or golf. I thought, ‘This is not for me.’ In the end, both as a journalist and at the Institute, I worked almost as hard as he did. At one stage, before the advent of personal computers enabled me to do all my writing myself, I kept three secretaries at the Institute busy. I made time for holidays, and for reading. But I took the view that if I wasn’t willing to work extremely hard, I shouldn’t expect to be CEO. Everyone in my family had always worked hard as a matter of course, and I was no exception.


Throughout my time at the Institute, as in earlier years, my parents, who had themselves been members for many years, showed great interest in what I was saying and doing. I gave them copies of articles and speeches. When my father’s eyesight began to fail, I blew these up so that he could read them. My mother occasionally thought I should tone things down, but my father generally thought one should not mince one’s words.


After my father died in 1998 on the farm in his ninety-third year, my mother moved back to Johannesburg, where she made many new friends while also resuming contact with several old ones. As her health began to fade and she was unable to get out much, I used to visit her for half an hour almost every day en route home from work. Fortunately, I had been able to find a flat for her in a building in the same block as our house in Richmond Avenue, Auckland Park. We would have a drink together, whisky for me, brandy for her, a drink before dinner being a family tradition dating back to my grandparents.
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Parents Gaby and Louis Kane-Berman. I was very proud of them.


Although many of my friends emigrated because the government had made their lives here impossible, or because they saw no future in this country, I never seriously thought of leaving. I don’t regret that. So many of my mother’s friends had to spend their twilight years visiting children or grandchildren in various other parts of the world. I was always grateful that our family was never split up like this. I was also grateful that my brothers and I were able to club together to hire round-the-clock caregivers for her when she needed them over the last few years of her life. This meant she could remain in her flat surrounded by her own pictures, ornaments, books, silver, and other things instead of having to move into an institution. And we were fortunate to find wonderful women to look after her who could always be relied upon to arrive even in midwinter by taxi from Soweto or elsewhere at six in the morning when it was their turn for the day shift. Such people are the salt of the earth.






1. The World English Bible.







2. Jaap Steyn, Penvegter: Piet Cillié van die Burger, Tafelberg, 2001, pp 131, 357. Reference kindly supplied by Hermann Giliomee by e-mail to JKB dated 31 October 2016.







3. 1959–1960 Survey, pp 278–281.







4. Rand Daily Mail, 9 March 1963.







5. Letter from me to my grandparents, 15 October 1963.







6. Shireen Motala, Behind Closed Doors – A Study of Deaths in Detention in South Africa, SAIRR, Johannesburg, 1987.







7. Letter from Alan Paton to JKB, 10 September 1964.







8. Letter from Alan Paton to JKB, 25 January 1965.







9. Letter from Alan Paton to JKB, 10 April 1978.







10. Exchange of letters Alan Paton/JKB, 9 July, 4 October 1984.







11. Maritz van den Berg, PoliticsWeb, 5 October 2015.







12. Maritz van den Berg, PoliticsWeb, 13 September 2015.







13. Muriel Horrell, Action, Reaction, and Counter-action – A Brief Review of Non-white Political Movements in South Africa, SAIRR, Johannesburg, 1971, p 70.







14. Rand Daily Mail, 16 September 1972.







15. Ann Beverley Coltman, A Comparative Study of the Breretons of Wisconsin and the Breretons of South Africa, senior thesis, University of Texas, Austin, 1977–1979.







16. Jocelyne Kane-Berman, ‘The Kane-Berman Family History’, unpublished, 2006.







17. Claire Robertson (ed.), Remembering Old Johannesburg, Ad Donker, Johannesburg, 1986.







18. These words from Field Marshal JC Smuts appear on her tombstone in the Brixton Cemetery in Johannesburg.







19. Muriel Horrell, South Africa – Basic Facts and Figures, SAIRR, Johannesburg, 1973, p 10.







20. JKB interview with Louis Kane-Berman, Frontline, June 1982.







21. Muriel Horrell, Legislation and Race Relations, SAIRR, Johannesburg, 1971, pp 2, 15–16.







22. 1955–1956 Survey, p 4.







23. MM Corbett, The Truth about the Constitutional Crisis, War Veterans’ Torch Commando, Cape Town, 1952.







24. Louis Kane-Berman, ‘The Torch Commando – Its Beginning and End’, unpublished paper, undated; JKB interview with Louis Kane-Berman, Frontline, June 1982.







25. Gwendolen Carter, The Politics of Inequality – South Africa since 1948, third ed., Thames & Hudson, London, 1962, p 330.







26. Louis Kane-Berman, ‘The Torch Commando – Its Beginning and End’, pp 317–318.







27. 1952–1953 Survey, pp 5–6.







28. JKB interview with Louis Kane-Berman, Frontline, June 1982.







29. John Kane-Berman, Contract Labour in South West Africa, SAIRR, Johannesburg, 1972.







30. Assembly Hansard 10, 13 April 1972, columns 4854–4855.







31. Louis Kane-Berman, ‘The Torch Commando – Its Beginning and End’, p 22.







32. Card sent by Transhaven Seaside Fund to JKB, November 2012.







33. E-mail from Ruth Spector to JKB, 7 November 2012.










OEBPS/image/parents_fmt.jpeg





OEBPS/image/pierre_roestorf_fmt.jpeg
) -






OEBPS/image/cover_fmt.jpeg
B_e_tWee N

Holding the
Liberal Centre in

outh African
Politics

John
Kane-Berman





OEBPS/image/BW_fmt.jpeg





